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 I. IntroductionI. IntroductionI. IntroductionI. Introduction 
 

The surprise New Year's Day rebellion in Chiapas dealt a stunning blow to Mexican self-confidence. The rebels 
shattered President Salinas' portrait of a modernizing nation about to reap economic benefits from the just-passed North 
American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA). The emergence of an extremely well-organized guerrilla force from within the 
jungles of one of the country's poorest and most remote states focused national and international attention on the gross 
inequities, injustice, and serious political problems of Mexico as a whole. 
 

This report examines the underlying causes of the New Year's Rebellion, the Mexican government's two-phase response, 
and the most serious human rights and humanitarian law violations that occurred during the conflict and have been 
documented by Human Rights Watch/Americas (formerly Americas Watch) to date. Our findings, based on fact-finding trips 
to Chiapas from January 9 and 14, and from February 8 to 17, as well as close monitoring of the situation, including 
extensive contacts with the Mexican human rights community, are: 
 

���� both the Mexican authorities and the EZLN (Zapatista Army of National Liberation) committed serious violations of 
human rights and humanitarian law; 

 
���� army sweeps of many towns and hamlets led to deaths and injuries of civilians, as well as massive arrests, yet 
the government has not been forthcoming in identifying the dead and wounded, or those in army custody; 

 
���� many arrests by the army were made without warrants or probable cause to believe those arrested were involved 
in the fighting; 

 
���� torture and cruel treatment, as well as prolonged detention in violation of Mexican law, were common features 
of army detention; 

 
���� the continued detention, or conditional release with charges pending, of prisoners arrested without probable 
cause by the army and turned over to civilian authorities, raises concern that they are being held for political 
reasons; 

 
���� the government has engaged in cover-ups of human rights and humanitarian law violations committed by the army 
in, among others, the following cases: the summary execution of five EZLN soldiers in the Ocosingo market; the 
violation of medical neutrality and the murder of eleven persons taken from a hospital in Ocosingo; and the 
torture, disappearances, and deaths of three men from the Morelia ejido near Altamirano; 

 
���� the National Human Rights Commission was complicit in covering up each of these three cases; 

 
���� the EZLN violated the laws of war by taking hostages and in one case murdering a hostage, shielding themselves 
during combat by having civilians in their midst, and destroying non-military targets. 

 
Despite the promises contained in its public relations campaign, the government already has signaled its lack of 

interest in fully and openly investigating, prosecuting, and punishing the significant human rights and humanitarian law 
abuses that occurred during the conflict. This is especially true of abuses committed by the army. There also are signs that 
much needed political reforms, introduced by Mexico's political parties in the wake of the crisis, will be stalled by the 
government and the ruling Institutional Revolutionary Party (PRI). 
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Human Rights Watch/Americas welcomed the government's adoption of a conciliatory response to the uprising, which had 
the immediate effect of halting the violence and reducing gross violations of human rights. We also support the ongoing 
efforts to achieve reconciliation and peace in the region. Yet those efforts will fail unless the government ensures that 
there will be justice for past violations of human rights, and firmly guarantees that human rights will be respected in the 
future. 
 

The New Year's Rebellion arose in the context of political repression, an absence of functioning institutions of civil 
society, and the Mexican government's tolerance of injustice and abuse. On the eve of negotiations to bring peace and 
reconciliation to Chiapas, Mexico is at a crossroads. The government and the PRI can continue to impose the politics of the 
past on the Mexican people. Or, Mexico can break with the past by instituting measures to ensure an end to impunity for 
gross violations of human rights C in Chiapas and elsewhere C and entering upon an era in which democracy, human 
rights, and the rule of law are the core principles of government. To achieve lasting peace in Chiapas, and prevent similar 
outbreaks of violence elsewhere, Mexico must choose the latter route.  
 
 II. The Rebellion and Its CausesII. The Rebellion and Its CausesII. The Rebellion and Its CausesII. The Rebellion and Its Causes 
 

Just after midnight on January 1, 1994, hundreds of armed campesinos, the majority indigenous Mayans, stormed four 
towns in southeastern Chiapas: San Cristóbal de las Casas, Ocosingo, Altamirano, and Las Margaritas. The rebels, who call 
themselves the Ejército Zapatista de Liberación Nacional, or EZLN (Zapatista Army of National Liberation), "declared war" on 
the federal army and the Salinas administration. The EZLN identified its members as descendants of Pancho Villa and Emiliano 
Zapata who "have nothing, absolutely nothing, not a suitable roof, nor land, nor work, nor health, nor adequate food, nor 
education, nor the right to freely and democratically elect our representatives, nor independence from foreigners, nor 
justice for ourselves and our children."1 They announced that their action was timed to coincide with the day the North 
American Free Trade Agreement went into effect, and claimed NAFTA "was a death certificate for the Indian peoples of 
Mexico."2 
 

Most of the rebels were young men and women whom townspeople described as having "having more discipline than 
training."3 They wore green uniforms and had scarves tied around their faces; some were armed with assault rifles and 
pistols, but others carried ancient weaponry and even training rifles made from wood. Their spokesperson, who identifies 
himself as Subcomandante Marcos, is a non-indigenous, educated, and highly sophisticated man who is presumed to be from 
Mexico City. 
 

                                   
1 EZLN letter to the Mexican people, January 1, 1994. Human Rights Watch translation from original. 

2 Tim Golden, "Mexican Troops Battling Rebels: Toll at Least 56," New York Times, January 3, 1994.  

3 Id. 

In San Cristóbal de las Casas, the EZLN took over the municipal palace where they broke doors and windows, used the 
furniture to barricade the surrounding streets, and scattered and destroyed municipal records. They burned the building that 
housed the state Attorney General's office, cut phone and power lines, blocked roads, and seized radio communication 
equipment. They also attacked the prison in San Cristóbal and liberated 179 prisoners. Similar scenes occurred in the other 
county seats they captured. 
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The rebellion took both federal and state officials by surprise. Although the Mexican press had reported throughout 1993 
that a guerrilla movement was organizing in Chiapas,4 the official government position, repeated emphatically by Mexico's 
Minister of Government Patrocinio González Garrido C who until January 1993 was the governor of Chiapas C was "there 
are no guerrillas in Chiapas."5 
 
  Certainly the Mexican army knew better. In March 1993, soldiers invaded the rural communities of Mitzitón and San Isidro 
el Ocotal near San Cristóbal de las Casas to search for two fellow officers who reportedly had vanished while on patrol 
in the area. After charred but unidentifiable remains of two persons were found nearby, the soldiers raided homes, 
confiscated or destroyed property, tortured suspects, and arbitrarily arrested at least seventeen people. Similar events 
occurred two months later in the Ocosingo district Patate Viejo ejido,6 where soldiers engaged in a shootout with supposed 
guerrillas and subsequently conducted house-to-house searches and arrested villagers who allegedly were armed.7 
 

The surprise of a post-Cold War, post-NAFTA armed rebellion in southern Mexico diminishes when economic, political, and 
human rights factors are understood. Chiapas is the poorest state in Mexico. Nearly half of all homes in the state lack 
plumbing and one-third are without electricity. Illiteracy, at 30.12 percent, is two and one-half times the national average. 
Twenty-six percent of the state's 3.2 million people speak no Spanish. At the same time, Chiapas is the state in which the 
administration of Carlos Salinas de Gortari has spent the most in social programs. Federal spending in Chiapas rose more 
than tenfold in the last five years to $250 million.  
 

                                   
4 Elio Hernández, "Prácticas armadas nocturnas en Las Margaritas, Chiapas," La Jornada, August 2, 1993; Guillermo Correa, Julio César López, "En 
Chiapas, descubren un campo de entrenamiento de grupos armados," Proceso, August 23, 1993; Guillermo Correa, "Hay guerrilleros en Chiapas desde 
hace ocho años; grupos radicales infiltraron a la Iglesia y a las comunidades," Proceso, September 13, 1993; Julio César López, Rodrigo Vera, "Hay 
noticias de gente armada en Chiapas, pero no de la Iglesia," Proceso, Sept. 20, 1993.  

5 According to one press account, González Garrido was quoted as saying, "There are land invasions, and clashes [that leave] injured and even 
dead, but that's a far cry from a guerrilla problem.... These are internal conflicts, not an insurgency." Andres Oppenheimer, "Image-conscious 
Mexico: Guerrillas? What guerrillas?" Miami Herald, June 28, 1993. 

6 The ejido land tenure system was created following the Mexican revolution. Under this system, campesino families or communities acquired 
rights to land that they could use in perpetuity and pass on to their children, but could not sell. 

7 The military abuses were amply documented by the Minnesota Advocates for Human Rights in Civilians at Risk: Military and Police Abuses in 
Mexico's Countryside, World Policy Institute, July 1993. See also, Elio Henríquez, "Amplia operación militar en Chiapas," La Jornada, May 31, 1993; 
Guillermo Correa, "Chiapas 'Guerrilla' Activity Evidence Reviewed," in Foreign Broadcast Information Services, LAT-93-153, 11 August 1993.  



 
 
Human Rights Watch/Americas - page 6 - March 1, 1994, Vol. VI, No. 3 

Conflicts over land tenure and the use of natural resources are a chronic problem in Chiapas, which in addition to its 
poverty, is one of Mexico's most densely populated states. Sixty percent of the state's economy comes from agriculture. 
Competition for land and the collapse of earnings from the region's four principal products C timber, coffee, cattle, and 
corn C inflamed social tensions. When campesinos, encouraged by the liberation theology-inspired Catholic church and a 
democratic teachers union movement, organized and petitioned for land, the rural elite responded by setting up paramilitary 
forces to suppress them.8  
 

As in other parts of Mexico, the violence that has gripped Chiapas is bolstered by the Mexican power structure, which 
exerts political control over rural areas (and recruits supporters for the ruling Institutional Revolutionary Party, or PRI) 
through large landowners and local influence-holders, known as caciques, who enjoy economic and political power in 
exchange for their loyalty. 
 
  Caciques typically impose their will through private armies, called guardias blancas. In Chiapas, caciques with close ties 
to the PRI also wield influence over state and municipal police, who reinforce the guardias blancas, as well as civil 
authorities and judges. With all too few exceptions, land conflicts are resolved through the use of force, skullduggery, and 
abuse of government power. 
 

The Chiapas PRI is by no means an anomaly. Despite protracted civil unrest, the party suspiciously earns the highest 
electoral victories of any party in the state. In the 1988 presidential election, between 85 and 90 percent of Chiapas votes 
were recorded for President Salinas, one of the highest percentages of any state in Mexico. The PRI currently controls 109 
of 110 Chiapas municipalities, including all towns where the Zapatista uprising occurred.9 Perhaps for that reason, Chiapas 
contributes significantly to the national leadership of the PRI. 
 

Not only has the PRI continued to govern the state as if the much-touted modernization of Mexico was not applicable 
there it has also implicated national institutions in its policies. The Mexican army, which has been deployed in Chiapas for 
several years to secure the border with Guatemala and conduct drug interdiction and eradication operations, has intervened 
on the side of the caciques in land disputes. 
 

HRW/Americas has documented widespread land-related abuses against campesinos in Chiapas. In earlier reports, we 
described the brutal evictions of entire campesino communities by hundreds of local police in cooperation with caciques and 
their hired thugs. In each case, they swarmed in without warning before dawn, forced sleeping residents to abandon their 
homes and possessions, and transported them by truck to major thoroughfares miles away where they literally were dumped. 
Persons who resisted or appeared to the authorities to be moving too slowly were beaten. Many men were arrested; some 
reported that they were tortured in custody. After the communities were cleared of their inhabitants, they were looted and 
in one case, burned to the ground.10 
 

                                   
8 For an expanded evaluation of the roots of social problems in Chiapas, see Luis Hernández, "Revenge of the Mayans: The Roots of Mexico's 
Inevitable Indian Uprising," The Washington Post, January 23, 1994. 

9 "Rebellion puts Salinas on defensive," Miami Herald, January 10, 1994. 

10 Americas Watch, Human Rights in Mexico: A Policy of Impunity, New York: Human Rights Watch, June 1990, pp. 59-62; Unceasing Abuses: Human 
Rights in Mexico One Year After the Introduction of Reform, New York: Human Rights Watch, September 1991, pp. 25-26. 
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The San Cristóbal de las Casas diocese of the Catholic church and its bishop, Samuel Ruiz, an active and outspoken 
defender of campesinos for over thirty years, repeatedly have faced public denunciations and threats by government 
officials and caciques .  In September 1991, in a particularly egregious attack on church-based community development 
efforts, the parish priest in Simojovel, near San Cristóbal de las Casas, was arrested without warrant, held for forty nine 
days in maximum-security prison and charged with conspiracy, plundering, and illegal possession of firearms in reprisal for 
the actions of a group of forty peasants, who began construction on disputed land.11  Last spring, senior military officers 
accused the diocese-based Fray Bartolomé de las Casas Human Rights Center of spreading "odious lies" about the military, 
"obstructing justice" and "defending criminals," in response to the Center's efforts to document torture and abuse by 
military officials in San Isidro el Ocotal. In November 1993, Bishop Ruiz was the target of a Vatican-inspired effort to 
relieve him of his position, presumably for his embrace of liberation theology and his humanitarian efforts.12 Ruiz refused to 
step down, and no further church action was taken, but official harassment still dogged him. During the first ten days of 
the current conflict, Bishop Ruiz, local parish priests, and the Fray Bartolomé Human Rights Center were accused of 
fomenting the Zapatista rebellion by state government officials.  
 

Violence and antagonism directed against non-indigenous officials and independent advisors who defend the land claims 
and human rights of indigenous individuals and groups, has been a recurring theme. In 1990, a Tapachula journalist who had 
published critical articles about powerful Chiapas families and the arbitrary arrest on bogus charges of another local 
journalist, was murdered.13 Also that year, Gov. Patrocinio González Garrido warned Dr. Ricardo Paniagua Guzmán, the Chiapas 
state director of the federal government's National Indigenous Institute or INI, not to assist local Indian groups with 
federal economic and technical assistance. When that assistance continued, INI workers were threatened and arrested. On 
February 29, 1992, Paniagua himself was arrested without a warrant, held incommunicado without charges, and interrogated 
for nine hours. Six other INI employees in Chiapas were arrested the same day, also without warrants. Eventually they were 
charged with fraud relating to a cattle-raising project and while they were freed, as of October 1993 their cases were 
still pending.14  
 

While police and prosecutorial corruption and abuse, and the lack of an independent judiciary and respect for the rule 
of law, occur throughout Mexico, the political power structure and remoteness from Mexico City magnify those problems in 
Chiapas. Victims have only the court of public opinion to turn to when their human rights are violated, because, as a rule, 
the state's legal system fails to provide them with protection. And, because few Mexican and no international reporters 
regularly cover Chiapas, their pleas have gotten little outside attention.15 
 

                                   
11 Americas Watch, "Briefing Paper on Intimidation of Activists in Mexico," New York: Human Rights Watch, October 1993, p. 10. Minnesota 
Advocates for Human Rights, Conquest Continued: Disregard for Human and Indigenous Rights in the Mexican State of Chiapas, October 1992, pp. 
24-27. 

12 Through the Papal Nuncio in Mexico City, Ruiz was charged with "grave pastoral and doctrinal errors." At the time, Minister of Governor 
Patrocinio González Garrido was widely accused of orchestrating the move. He issued a statement denying any involvement. Papal Nuncio 
Archbishop Prigione also said that the Pope's decision was "in no way" influenced by Mexico's political leaders, but refused to comment on 
what "doctrinal errors" Bishop Ruiz had committed. Gregory Katz, "Pope seeks bishop's removal: Mexican prelate famed for defense of Indians," 
Dallas Morning News, November 22, 1993.  

13 Americas Watch, Unceasing Abuses," supra, n. 10, pp. 29-31. 

14 Americas Watch, "Briefing Paper," supra, n. 12, p. 9. See also Minnesota Advocates for Human Rights Conquest Continued, supra, n. 12, pp. 17-
23. 

15 One notable exception is the national daily La Jornada, which bases reporters and regularly covers events in the state. 

Moreover, the state's criminal code, signed into law by Governor González Garrido in December 1988, was restructured to 
facilitate repression of campesinos who rebelled about social conditions. The new law created or enhanced sentences for a 
variety of "political crimes" C such as large public demonstrations C that would otherwise be legal exercises of freedom 
of expression under the less restrictive Mexican constitution. It also penalized the political crimes of rebellion, sedition, 
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and rioting with particularly stiff sentences, and applied those laws to a far wider array of circumstances than Mexican 
federal law.  
 

 In sum, while economic woes plague the state and are contributing factors to the Zapatista rebellion, pervasive human 
rights violations and the lack of justice and the rule of law are its proximate causes.  
 
 III. The Government's Response to the UprisingIII. The Government's Response to the UprisingIII. The Government's Response to the UprisingIII. The Government's Response to the Uprising 
 

The Mexican government's response to the rebellion can be divided into two phases. Immediately following the assault, 
the Chiapas state government issued a report claiming the EZLN carried out acts of provocation and violence, and claimed to 
have sent in security forces "to try to dissuade the indigenous groups, to ask them to reconsider their attitude, to return 
to the legal way and to participate in the construction of solutions to their demands."16 The federal government, taking its 
cue from Chiapas state authorities and the Minister of Government C former Chiapas governor González Garrido, whom 
President Salinas sent to Chiapas to direct the federal government's response C deployed army troops and air support, 
and attempted full-scale military suppression of the rebels. In the media, the federal government tried to downplay the 
assault by emphasizing that 106 of the state's 110 municipalities were tranquil.17  
 

From the outset, spokespersons for the Salinas administration insinuated that the rebellion's leaders were from Central 
America: in a formal statement, Government Minister González Garrido said that the Chiapas rebels "present a mix of 
interests and of people, both national and foreign. They show affinities with other violent factions that operate in other 
countries of Central America."18 The EZLN insisted its leaders and soldiers were Mexican. The Salinas administration also tried 
to link the leadership of the Zapatista force to two radical fringe groups C PROCUP (the Revolutionary Workers Clandestine 
People's Union Party) and the Party of the Poor C that emerged from guerrilla forces that operated in other impoverished 
Mexican states in the 1970s.19 It also permitted rumors to circulate that Bishop Ruiz and priests involved in the Fray 
Bartolomé de las Casas Human Rights Center facilitated the radio communications used by the Zapatistas to plan and 
coordinate the attacks.  
 

Within days, press and human rights monitors, who had provided superb coverage of the fighting and accompanying human 
rights abuses during the initial days of the uprising, were barred by the army from visiting areas in which military 
operations were underway or had recently concluded. While the army cited the need for the protection of civilians as the 
reason for sealing off large areas of the countryside, suspicions were immediately raised that the State was shielding acts 
of repression from witnesses. 

                                   
16 Coordinación de Comunicación Social del Gobierno del Estado, Tuxtla Gutiérrez, January 19, 1994. 

17 Tim Golden, "Mexican Troops Battling Rebels; Toll at Least 56," New York Times, January 3, 1994. 

18 Boletín Informativo para Prensa, Radio y Televisión, Secretaria de Gobernacíon, January 5, 1994, 0027/SUPC. 

19 Tim Golden, "Mexican Rebels Are Retreating, But Issues Are Not," New York Times, January 4, 1994. 

As dramatic television images of the violence and accompanying human rights abuses were imparted into living rooms 
throughout the country, and as the plight of the Chiapas campesinos and the scope of the Zapatistas' demands became widely 
known, intense pressure mounted on the Salinas administration to change tactics and search for a peaceful resolution to 
the conflict. The pressure increased during the January 8-9 weekend when the Zapatistas downed electric pylons in 
Michoacán and Puebla, driving home the possibility that the EZLN was a national movement. When a car bomb was detonated in 
a Mexico City parking garage and a grenade exploded in the Acapulco mayor's office that weekend, it became clear that 
even more feared guerrilla groups were prepared to act in solidarity with the Zapatistas. According to press reports, 
PROCUP and the Party of the Poor took responsibility for both attacks.  
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On January 9, President Salinas began the policy transformation by announcing that he had named a three-person 
commission, made up of three well-known Chiapanecos: writer Eraclio Zepeda, anthropologist Andrés Fabregas, and  
Senator Eduardo Robledo, who were to have "complete independence" to evaluate and propose solutions to social problems in 
the conflicted areas. 
 

The following day, he dropped the hard-line strategy altogether. He fired Minister of Government González Garrido and 
appointed Dr. Jorge Carpizo MacGregor to replace him. Carpizo, a former university rector and Supreme Court justice, had 
removed his judicial robes in 1990 to become the first President of Mexico's newly formed Comisión Nacional de Derechos 
Humanos (CNDH). Under his leadership, the CNDH, a governmental body with independent investigative authority but no 
prosecutorial powers, grew and produced thorough, credible investigations into sensitive human rights cases. In early 1993, 
Carpizo became Procurador General de la República (Attorney General). While his task of cleaning up the Attorney General's 
office (PGR) and its police body, the Federal Judicial Police (FJP), met with mixed success, he retained his reputation as a 
reformer. 
 

The President also asked Manuel Camacho Solís, the Foreign Minister and former Mayor of Mexico City, to lead an effort 
to reach a peaceful settlement in Chiapas. Camacho is a respected former leader of the PRI whose negotiating skills are 
widely held in high regard, even by political opponents. Camacho immediately embraced Bishop Ruiz, who had come briefly to 
Mexico City, and the two men flew together to Chiapas. When he arrived in San Cristóbal de las Casas, Camacho announced 
that his peacemaking efforts would be made in his capacity as a private citizen, not as a government functionary. 
 

President Salinas also held a meeting with Lic. Jorge Madrazo, the President of the National Human Rights Commission 
(CNDH), thereby boosting its visibility as the agency responsible for investigating human rights abuses committed by both 
sides during the course of the conflict. By that time, CNDH representatives were already in Chiapas, and had set up locations 
in San Cristóbal de las Casas and Tuxtla Gutiérrez where staff could receive complaints. Its criminologists, forensic 
physicians, and investigators also had begun work. The CNDH also assisted in the evacuation and humanitarian assistance of 
displaced persons.  
 

The Salinas administration's new conciliatory policy had an almost immediate effect. After January 10, reports of high-
profile violations of human rights diminished, though abuses during the hard-line period were still reported. The government 
announced a unilateral cease-fire, and the army permitted journalists and human rights monitors to reenter most areas of 
the countryside. A week later, Chiapas governor Elmar Setzer tendered his resignation and was replaced by Javier López 
Moreno, a  moderate who had served as Secretary of Education during the 1982-1988 administration of Governor Castellanos 
Domínguez. He immediately vowed to "respect the human rights of all, especially those of our brother Indians."20  
 

On January 20, President Salinas signed amnesty legislation that applies to all acts of violence in violation of 
federal law in the Chiapas conflict between January 1 and 3:00 pm on January 20, provided that those seeking amnesty lay 
down their arms within thirty days. Unfortunately, the law is ambiguous as to whether it also applies to the army and as to 
whether it applies to acts that constitute serious violations of internationally recognized human rights and humanitarian 
law. A similar law was passed on January 22 by the Chiapas state legislature for state crimes.21 That law requires the 
governor to name a special Commission to implement the law, and it will go into effect only when that Commission 
announces a cease-fire. 
 

                                   
20 Juan Manuel Venegas and Oscar Camacho Guzmán, "Javier López Moreno, nuevo gobernador de Chiapas," La Jornada, January 19, 1994, p. 7. 

21 Juan Manuel Venegas, Candelaria Rodríguez, "Aprueba el Congreso de Chiapas iniciativa de ley de amnestía," La Jornada, January 26, 1994, p. 8. 
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On January 26, the PRI and the two major opposition parties, the National Action Party or PAN, and the Party of the 
Democratic Revolution or PRD, signed an agreement calling for independent bodies to rule on the fairness of elections, an 
end to the use of government funds by political parties, an independent prosecutor to investigate electoral fraud, and fair 
treatment for all parties by the news media. While some of the pact's terms can be achieved by the parties acting in good 
faith, the enforcement provisions require federal legislation that, to date, has not been introduced. 
 
  For its part the EZLN has not offered to lay down its arms, but in a series of press releases it has sounded a 
conciliatory tone and has dropped some of its most politically onerous demands, including President Salinas' resignation. 
As of this writing, peace talks were imminent. 
 
 IV. Human Rights and Humanitarian Law ViolationsIV. Human Rights and Humanitarian Law ViolationsIV. Human Rights and Humanitarian Law ViolationsIV. Human Rights and Humanitarian Law Violations    
    in the Context of the Conflictin the Context of the Conflictin the Context of the Conflictin the Context of the Conflict 
 

From press reports and photos from the earliest days of the conflict it was apparent that serious violations of 
international human rights and humanitarian law were occurring. In the first week, a handful of sensational cases 
involving abuses by the army appeared in the press and held public attention. These included: 
 

���� the events in Ocosingo including the apparent summary executions by soldiers of seven Zapatistas in the 
Ocosingo market; 

 
���� the case of fourteen Zapatistas whose corpses were found scattered around a bus in the vicinity of the Rancho 
Nuevo Army base; 

 
���� the case of family members, including a small child, traveling in a van who were shot by armed forces when 
they ran a roadblock; 

 
���� the army attack on a Red Cross vehicle; and 

 
���� the strafing of clearly marked press vehicles near El Corralito; 

 
The EZLN's kidnapping of former Chiapas governor Absalón Castellanos Domínguez on January 2 also attracted widespread 
public attention. HRW/Americas has investigated each of these incidents; our findings, to date, appear in subsequent 
sections of this newsletter. 
 

Also discussed below are our findings on other egregious cases that emerged more recently or received less public 
attention. These include: 
 

���� the January 24 discovery of the murdered corpses of two men who "disappeared" in Las Margaritas on January 
16; 

 
���� the January 7 events in the ejido Morelia and the summary execution of three villagers; and 

 
���� the January 6 aerial firing on two men in Las Margaritas. 

 
On closer examination, however, it became clear that other patterns of serious human rights and humanitarian law abuses 
were emerging. 
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 V. Disappearances, Arbitrary Arrest and Detention,V. Disappearances, Arbitrary Arrest and Detention,V. Disappearances, Arbitrary Arrest and Detention,V. Disappearances, Arbitrary Arrest and Detention,    
    Torture, and Cruel Treatment in DetentionTorture, and Cruel Treatment in DetentionTorture, and Cruel Treatment in DetentionTorture, and Cruel Treatment in Detention     
 

Army sweeps in many towns and hamlets resulted in massive arrests, and families streamed into Chiapas' urban centers 
seeking information on the status and whereabouts of those detained. In some cases they were able to locate them, but 
there are many reports of persons who are still missing after their capture. For example, on January 20, the Mexico City-
based Fray Francisco de Vitoria Center for Human Rights reported the detention and disappearance of twelve persons. In a 
February 10 statement to the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, the Mexican government admitted that the CNDH had 
received 420 requests for information on the whereabouts of persons and, as of February 2, had solved 395 cases. Neither 
the government nor the CNDH has provided information on how many of those persons were found alive or the identities of 
those who died. 
 

Because the government was not forthcoming with the names of persons known to it to be dead, wounded, or in 
custody, it caused unconscionable distress to family members of disappeared persons. The CNDH partially reduced that distress 
in its January 25 press release in which it provided two lists of persons detained under federal and state charges for 
crimes allegedly committed in the course of the rebellion. But it is inexcusable that neither the army, the federal or state 
prosecutors, nor prison authorities provided any response to the many desperate inquiries of relatives. 
 
  Most of the army sweeps, some of which were conducted in conjunction with officers of the PGR, resulted in arbitrary 
arrests in violation of international human rights norms. Many villagers were taken from their homes without warrants or 
apparent probable cause to believe that they were involved in the fighting. In its January 25 press release, the CNDH 
reported that it had established that 131 persons had been arrested; of those, fifty-eight were released and seventy were 
formally charged. The other three are minors who were sent to reformatories. The CNDH figures were based on court reports; 
they did not include persons arrested by the army who either were released or were never turned over to civilian 
authorities. The CNDH advisory also did not contain names of wounded rebels, if any, who were detained in army medical 
facilities. 
 

During the second week of February, the thirty-eight prisoners held on state criminal charges were released. It was 
widely reported just before their release that they would be freed as part of peace talks with the EZLN.22 But instead of 
receiving the benefit of Chiapas' new amnesty law, the prisoners were released either on bond or conditional liberty. As of 
this writing the thirty-two prisoners held on federal criminal charges are still in Cerro Hueco, the state prison in the 
provincial capital, Tuxtla Gutiérrez. 
 

Many of those arrested and held under suspicion of involvement with the rebellion complained of violent arrests and 
interrogation by soldiers that included torture. Nearly all described abject conditions of detention while in army custody 
that amount to cruel, inhuman and degrading treatment under international law. 
 

On February 13, HRW/Americas spoke to twenty-eight of the thirty-two federal prisoners in Cerro, Hueco. Eighteen were 
arrested without warrants in Ocosingo between January 2-4 when they left their homes to buy food or check on relatives. 
None were arrested in areas where fighting was occurring. All categorically deny any connection with the EZLN. 
 

The eighteen men were taken to the municipal building in Ocosingo; on January 4 they were transferred together to a 
local business establishment where they were held for two days. Throughout this period they were blindfolded, tied by the 
wrists and feet, threatened, beaten, and made to lie on the floor. For four or five days they were given no food or water 

                                   
22 See, e.g., Eduardo Kragelund, "Peace Talks Loom, Concern Rises on Massacre Charges," Reuters, February 7, 1994.  
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other than an occasional cup of coffee. More than a month later, five still had clearly visible, ugly purple marks on their 
wrists that were produced by their bonds. One detainee, Elias Gómez, also had bruising on the face and a scar on his head 
that was consistent with a blow from a rifle butt.  
 

On January 6, the men were then taken to Tuxtla Gutiérrez and turned over to the federal prosecutor's office, 
(Ministerio Público) where they were charged them with murder, causing injuries, criminal association, and carrying arms 
exclusively reserved for the armed forces. The men told HRW/Americas that they have no idea who they allegedly killed or 
wounded. They also claimed they were not carrying weapons at the time of their arrest and that their homes had not been 
raided subsequently. They complained that the federal prosecutor forced them to sign a document that they were not allowed 
to see. Although under Mexican law the men were entitled to have a lawyer present when they appeared before the 
prosecutor, none was provided. They now have public defenders. 
 

A second group of eight men was arrested in ejido Morelia, in the Altamirano district, on January 7. They were taken 
from their homes by soldiers accompanied by a local  official. He had their names on a list and accused them of being 
Zapatistas, which they denied. These men recounted a similar story of incommunicado detention and torture by the army prior 
to being turned over to civilian authorities in Tuxtla Gutiérrez.23  
 

                                   
23 A fuller account of the events in the ejido Morelia is presented elsewhere in the report.  

Two other men, brothers Pedro and Benancio Hernández Jiménez, were arrested by soldiers at their home in Altamirano 
at 2:00 PM on January 9. The soldiers were accompanied by a civilian who identified the brothers as Zapatistas, which they 
denied. They were taken to a military installation in the center of town where they were held for two days with their 
wrists tied and their eyes blindfolded. From there they were taken by helicopter to an army facility in Tuxtla Gutiérrez 
where they were tortured with electricity. Pedro said he was shocked on the chest and other parts of his body with what he 
described as a small black box. An Amnesty International physician who examined him on January 21 told HRW/Americas that 
he saw clear physical evidence to confirm Pedro's account of torture. Benancio said he was shocked with cables that were 
attached to his legs; he showed our investigator dark violet marks on his legs that were consistent with his account of 
electric shock torture. 
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When the men were finally brought before the prosecutor they were threatened that if they did not "declarar bien" 
(which our investigator took to mean, tell the prosecutor what he wanted to hear), they would be turned back over to the 
army. They then were forced to sign a document that they were not allowed to see. The brothers are now being held on the 
same charges as the eighteen men from Ocosingo. They similarly state they do not know whom they allegedly killed or 
injured.24 
 

Our interviews with these twenty-eight prisoners in Cerro Hueco raised serious concerns, not only about the 
mistreatment and due process violations that accompanied their arrests, but also about the underlying basis for their 
detention. We have seen no evidence to suggest that any of the men participated in the fighting or are responsible for the 
crimes alleged, and are concerned that the men are being held on criminal charges solely for political purposes rather 
than for any wrongdoing. We urge the Mexican Attorney General to make immediate, full and public disclosure of the 
underlying bases for the charges against these men. If they do not withstand basic due process scrutiny, the government 
should immediately and unconditionally release the detained and compensate them for their suffering. 
 
 VI. Violations of Humanitarian Law by Both SidesVI. Violations of Humanitarian Law by Both SidesVI. Violations of Humanitarian Law by Both SidesVI. Violations of Humanitarian Law by Both Sides 
 

                                   
24 The findings of representatives of Mexican nongovernmental human rights organizations (who interviewed twenty-one prisoners in the Tuxtla 
Gutiérrez detention facility of the federal judicial police on or about January 10) and Amnesty International (who interviewed all seventy 
federal and state prisoners in Cerro Hueco on January 21) were consistent with those of Human Rights Watch/Americas. 
 

Human Rights Watch/Americas also had requested the opportunity to interview prisoners in detention in January but, despite repeated 
efforts, arrangements could not be made while our delegation was in Chiapas. Representatives from Amnesty International complained that their 
request to conduct confidential interviews with detainees in Cerro Hueco was stalled for several days before they were finally admitted on the 
last day the delegation was scheduled to be in the state. Mexican ambassador to the United States Jorge Montaño wrote in a January 25, 1994 
letter to Representative Robert G. Torricelli, that the Amnesty International visit was delayed until after the International Red Cross 
completed its visit to Cerro Hueco at 1:00 pm on Friday January 21. In fact, Cerro Hueco officials told Amnesty International that the Red Cross 
visit was completed on Thursday January 20. 
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Serious violations of laws of war were committed by both sides to the conflict. Mexico is party to the four Geneva 
Conventions of 1949, Common Article 3 of which provides that civilians and those taking no part in a conflict are to be 
protected, and that under all circumstances fundamental human rights are to be respected.25 In their earliest public 
pronouncements, the EZLN recognized that it too was bound by the Geneva Conventions, and called on international 
organizations and the International Committee of the Red Cross to monitor the conflict.26 
 

Before the cease-fire, there were multiple reports of aerial strafing of hamlets by the armed forces in areas where 
local observers reported no presence of guerrilla forces.27 Hamlets subjected to aerial fire included nearly a dozen in the 
vicinity of El Corralito, and several near Altamirano. As discussed below, the fact that twenty or more civilians died in the 
battle in Ocosingo suggests that the army violated a cardinal obligation imposed by the laws of war: to minimize harm to 
the civilian population. Civilians must be given appropriate warning of impending attack, and must be given a chance to 
leave the battle zone. Even when they are present in a battle site, it is the obligation of the attacker to apply the "rule 
of proportionality," by weighing the military necessity and importance of the objective to be achieved in the attack against 
the likelihood of harm to civilians. 
 

Army sweeps also resulted in the unnecessary terrorizing of civilians. For example, ejido Morelia residents complained 
that soldiers threatened them with execution, ransacked common storage houses, killed their livestock, and prevented them 
from going to certain parts of the town. Abandoned homes in El Corralito and neighboring hamlets were ransacked by 
soldiers and possessions of value were stolen. Both cases are discussed in greater detail below. 
 

                                   
25  Common Article 3 of those treaties provides: 

In the case of armed conflict not of an international character occurring in the territory of one of the High Contracting Parties, 
each Party to the conflict shall be bound to apply, as a minimum, the following provisions: 

 
(1) Persons taking no active part in the hostilities, including members of armed forces who have laid down their arms and 
those place hors de combat by sickness, wounds, detention, or any other cause, shall in all circumstances be treated humanely, 
without any adverse distinction founded on race, colour, religion or faith, sex, birth or wealth, or any other similar criteria. 
To this end the following acts are and shall remain prohibited at any time and in any place whatsoever with respect to the 
above-mentioned persons: 

 
(a) violence to life and person, in particular murder of all kinds, mutilation, cruel treatment and torture; 
(b) taking of hostages; 
(c) outrages upon personal dignity, in particular humiliating and degrading treatment; 
(d) in passing of sentences and the carrying out of executions without previous judgment pronounced by a regularly 
constituted court, affording all the judicial guarantees which are recognized as indispensable by civilized peoples; 

(2) The wounded and sick shall be collected and cared for. 
 

An impartial humanitarian body, such as the International Committee of the Red Cross, may offer its services to the Parties to the 
conflict. 
The parties to the conflict should endeavor to bring into force, by means of special agreements, all or part of the other provisions 
of the present Convention. 

 
The application of the preceding provisions shall not affect the legal status of the Parties to the conflict. 

 

26 EZLN letter to the Mexican people, January 1, 1994. 
 

27 The Mexican army claims that it never bombed Chiapas and that all its aerial fire was from machine guns or rockets in helicopters. Assuming 
the truth of the army's assertion, the magnitude of the act is not lessened. Such weapons fired from modern helicopters can result in equal or 
greater destruction of lives and property than many bombs dropped from planes.  

During its investigation of events in Ocosingo and other conflicted areas, HRW/Americas repeatedly heard accounts of 
army handouts of food and other emergency humanitarian aid that were used as ploys to trap Zapatistas who were hors de 
combat. In addition, Mexican human rights workers who were stopped at an army roadblock outside San Cristóbal de las Casas 
on January 9 told HRW/Americas that they observed soldiers allowing residents to leave the blocked off area to buy 
provisions. But when the residents tried to reenter, they were turned back. When the human rights workers reported these 
events to the CNDH official in charge, his only suggestion was to urge those who were turned back to file complaints with 
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the CNDH. His response underscored the CNDH's lack of authority to compel the army to ensure that the basic human needs of 
civilians in the conflict zone were met. 
 

The EZLN violated the laws of war by taking hostages. In addition to the kidnapping and continued detention of Absalón 
Castellanos, EZLN combatants held a few prominent citizens hostage during their siege of Ocosingo.28 The EZLN also burned 
houses and cars belonging to their hostages and, in the case of ophthalmologist Francisco Talango, murdered a hostage in 
clear violation of Common Article 3.  
 

In addition, the EZLN reportedly "shielded" themselves during combat by having civilians in their midst. Eyewitness 
accounts of events in the Ocosingo market contradict themselves on this matter.  Some of these civilians may have chosen 
to stay with the EZLN because they sympathized with their cause. Even under such a circumstance, the combatant has a duty to 
warn all civilians of possible risk, to allow those who choose to leave to do so, and not to retain anybody as a shield 
against attack. Those civilians who choose to remain in the midst of battle assume the risk of harm, and it is not 
necessarily a violation of the laws of war if they become casualties. But neither "shielding" nor the voluntary presence of 
civilians at a military target operate to relieve the other side of its obligation to minimize harm to civilians. With respect 
to the Ocosingo market battle, the EZLN claims that its soldiers did what they could to safeguard the civilians in their 
midst, and that many Zapatistas died protecting civilians trapped there.29 
 

Finally, in the towns the EZLN occupied, they attacked non-military targets such as local government buildings, and set 
fire to records and furniture. They also freed persons detained in local prisons. Journalists on the road to Ocosingo 
reported that the rebels made them pay a war tax of as much as 700 pesos to pass.30 In a subsequent statement, however, 
EZLN spokesperson Subcomandante Marcos apologized for the tax, announced that the money had been returned, and said that 
those responsible had been disciplined.31 
 

HRW/Americas is investigating reports that in some cases the EZLN engaged in forced recruitment of combatants. For 
example, one of six rebels who surrendered to townspeople in Oxchuc after escaping from a Zapatista convoy that was 
pulling out of the area told reporters, "We were forced to join them.... They said they would take my land if I didn't join 
them; I had no choice."32 HRW/Americas opposes conscription by dissident forces in situations of internal armed conflict 
such as exist currently in Chiapas. 
 
 
 VII. Findings in Highly Publicized CasesVII. Findings in Highly Publicized CasesVII. Findings in Highly Publicized CasesVII. Findings in Highly Publicized Cases 
 

                                   
28 Matilde Pérez, Rosa Rojas, "Fuerte Combate en Ocosingo entre soldados y el EZLN; versión de 50 alzados muertos," La Jornada, January 3, 1994. 

29 Blanche Petrich , Elio Hernández, "No es hora de entregar las armas: Marcos," La Jornada, February 7, 1994.  

30 Juanita Darling, "Toll Tops 100 in Mexican Revolution," Los Angeles Times, January 4, 1994. 

31 Undated letter from Subcomandante Marcos to El Tiempo, the major San Cristóbal de las Casas newspaper, that was sent on or around January 
8. 

32 Tod Robberson, "Rebels Pull Out of Towns as Mexican Army Mops Up," The Washington Post, January 5, 1994. 

Events in OcosingoEvents in OcosingoEvents in OcosingoEvents in Ocosingo: Zapatista forces entered the county seat of Ocosingo late in the evening on December 31, 1993; by 
morning they filled the central plaza. About 8:00 AM a battle broke out for control of the Presidencia Municipal 
(municipal building) between approximately 400 Zapatistas and approximately twenty to thirty state judicial police who 
were inside the building. The battle lasted eight hours and, according to a local priest who witnessed the battle from the 
church on the other side of the plaza, resulted in the deaths of at least four police officers including the local police 
chief, José Luis Morales. The priest saw no evidence that any of the Zapatistas were killed during that confrontation. 
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  A large crowd gathered to watch the confrontation and by mid-afternoon were calling on the police to give up. Once 
the Zapatistas took control of the municipal building there was a lot of looting in the town. The Zapatistas broke into the 
ISSSTE (the social security institution for state employees) store and gave the merchandise to the people. 
 

On January 2, army units from the 17th, 53rd and 73rd battalions based in Villahermosa, Tabasco, entered Ocosingo. When 
they appeared, most of the Zapatistas retreated. Before doing so, however, they set fire to the municipal building, the files 
of the court of first instance, and the office of the state attorney general. They also destroyed the installations of the 
judicial police and the state security police.33 Between 100 and 150 Zapatistas did not actually leave town but retreated to 
the market half a dozen blocks south of the central plaza, where a major battle occurred. According to the priest, at 
least twenty civilians and dozens of Zapatistas were killed. Many persons were injured, but no effort was made to assist 
them until after the fighting stopped. The priest attributed the high number of civilian casualties to some townspeople's 
having accompanied the Zapatistas to the market, in a show of support. 
 

While in Ocosingo, the Zapatistas took four hostages and held them for about forty-eight hours. One of the four, 
ophthalmologist Francisco Talango, either managed to escape or was released by the Zapatistas. He was killed by other 
Zapatistas when he tried to flee the market. 
 

After fierce fighting, the surviving Zapatistas looked for a way to retreat. Some tried to leave the area through the 
neighboring San Rafael neighborhood where fighting continued. According to the priest, a civilian woman was killed in the 
crossfire, and the baby she was carrying was injured. 
 

At 11:15 on January 3, the army began airplane and helicopter flights over the zone, but apparently did not fire from 
the air. Soldiers also terrorized residents by conducting violent house-to-house searches in some of the neighborhoods that 
were deemed most likely to house Zapatistas and their sympathizers including San José, Linda Vista, and San Rafael.  
 

                                   
33 Matilde Pérez U., Rosa Rojas, "Fuerte combate en Ocosingo entre soldados y el EZLN; versión de 50 alzados muertos," La Jornada, January 3, 
1994, p. 4. 
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Many press accounts describing conditions in the Ocosingo market on January 5 referred to the corpses of seven 
persons that bore visible marks of summary execution.34 One reporter said he saw a total of twenty-four corpses in the 
streets and markets, including the body of a child, and that the bodies of at least eight police and soldiers had been 
removed.35 
 

Tod Robberson of The Washington Post described another grizzly scene in which a severely wounded rebel lay in a ditch 
with a pistol still at his side. He was breathing heavily but appeared to be unconscious and bleeding from the head. Soldiers 
nearby made no attempt to render first aid.36 Televisa, the national television network, aired a video of a brief interview 
with him. The man later was found dead; he apparently was murdered by a single gunshot to the forehead. The identity of the 
murderer is not known.37 
 

With respect to the bodies found in the Ocosingo marketplace, the government initially engaged in what can only be 
called a cover-up. Forensic specialists of the federal Attorney General's office (at that time under the leadership of Dr. 
Jorge Carpizo) examined thirty bodies. In a press release dated January 7, the PGR claimed that autopsies and other tests 
performed the previous day showed that each of the four persons who exhibited execution-style gunshot wounds to the head 
had been killed on different dates and times, and that the shots came from guns that the armed forces do not use. 
 

On Saturday January 22, a Physicians for Human Rights delegation consisting of Dr. Clyde Collins Snow, an 
internationally recognized forensic anthropologist; Dr. Margarita Arruza, a forensic pathologist based in Jacksonville, 
Florida; and Dr. Thomas Crane, a physician from Santa Rosa, California, met in San Cristóbal de las Casas with CNDH 
criminologists and forensic doctors to review the evidence in the Ocosingo case. Both the CNDH experts and those from 
Physicians for Human Rights independently concluded that the five had been summarily executed at approximately the same 
time C four with close-range gunshots to the back of the head while kneeling, and the fifth with a gunshot to the side 
of the head. They also found ligature marks on the wrists of the bodies that suggested that their arms had been tied behind 
their backs; the PGR report had contained no description of ligature marks. In addition, they concluded that the weapon used 
to shoot the five men was a handgun, and that the bullet wounds were consistent with those made by nine millimeter 
sidearms carried by army officers. 
 

Despite the evident contradictions between the PGR autopsy and the findings of the CNDH and international specialists, 
the CNDH made a feeble attempt to convince the public that there was no serious discrepancy. On January 28, the CNDH issued 
a press release explaining that the PGR had not had the benefit of examining the victims' clothes that had been gathered by 
Chiapas state prosecutors and later delivered to the CNDH team. Yet the CNDH offered no explanation for why the PGR released 
an autopsy finding if all the relevant information necessary to confirm that finding was not available to it. 
 

                                   
34 See e.g., Tim Golden, "As Mexican Army Pursues Rebels, Fears Arise Over Rights Abuses," New York Times, January 6, 1994. He wrote, "At least 
a dozen rebels had been killed in and around the Ocosingo market. Six were found lying face down, shot at close range in the back of the 
head, their hands behind them and short lengths of nylon rope beside them. One still had his hands tied.... A seventh young peasant in rebel 
uniform had his head partly blown off and a length of the same type of rope knotted around his neck...." 

35 John Rice, "Locals emerge to bloodied town," Miami Herald, January 5, 1994. 

36 Tod Robberson, "Rebels Pull Out of Towns as Mexican Army Mops Up," The Washington Post, January 5, 1994.  

37 Jaime Avilés, "Después de la Fama, un Tiro en la Frente," El Financiero, January 6, 1994. 
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There also were reports of egregious violations of medical neutrality by the army in Ocosingo. On January 3 or 4, the 
army entered the IMSS (Mexican Social Security Institute) hospital in Ocosingo, apparently searching for EZLN guerrillas 
who had been wounded in a nearby firefight. There is evidences that soldiers forced patients and their visitors from the 
hospital and killed some of them. Eleven unidentified corpses were subsequently discovered across the street in a common 
grave in Ocosingo's municipal cemetery; a sheet with the IMSS insignia was found nearby on the surface of the soil. The CNDH 
exhumed the bodies and, in an initial press bulletin, stated that ten of the bodies could be identified as Zapatistas by their 
clothing, and "none of the bodies presented lesions suggesting a summary execution." In that same bulletin, however, the 
CNDH noted that one of the dead was connected to a catheter.38 These findings were contested by local human rights groups 
and reporters who observed the exhumation and contested the finding that ten of the victims were dressed as Zapatistas. 
As a result, another exhumation was made. 
 

The CNDH told Human Rights Watch/Americas on February 17 that three victims had been identified.  Two were civilians said 
by witnesses to have been shot by soldiers in the street close to the hospital; the other was a patient.  The CNDH, however, 
has still not published their names or the full results of its investigations.    
 

Attack on Zapatistas in a Bus Near Rancho NuevoAttack on Zapatistas in a Bus Near Rancho NuevoAttack on Zapatistas in a Bus Near Rancho NuevoAttack on Zapatistas in a Bus Near Rancho Nuevo: After the Zapatistas fled from San Cristóbal de las Casas, 
reporters found the wreckage of a civilian bus that apparently had been commandeered by the rebels. The bus had been hit 
by a grenade and automatic weapons fire in the vicinity of nearby Rancho Nuevo army base. Behind the bus, the bodies of 
fourteen men and boys, all wearing the red bandannas of the Zapatista force, lay dead. Several had their faces blown off, 
while others appeared to have been shot while retreating.39 We find it unlikely that such wounds could have been sustained 
in combat, especially since the corpses were found not inside the bus but a few feet away. And we are dismayed that, more 
than a month later, the government has not released an autopsy report.  
 

Army attack on family members, including a small child, traveling in a vanArmy attack on family members, including a small child, traveling in a vanArmy attack on family members, including a small child, traveling in a vanArmy attack on family members, including a small child, traveling in a van: On January 5, a family riding in a small 
van in front of the Rancho Nuevo military base was machine gunned by soldiers. Piecing together press accounts, it appears 
that as the vehicle approached an army roadblock, the front seat passenger got nervous and reached with his foot for the 
accelerator petal, causing the vehicle to lurch. Soldiers at the checkpoint opened fire, even though it was obvious that the 
passengers were civilians and included a small child. Everyone aboard was killed. Even assuming the vehicle ran the 
roadblock, this attack on a clearly civilian vehicle when there was no military objective for doing so, was impermissible 
under the laws of war. 
 

                                   
38 CNDH Bulletin, January 16, 1994. 

39 Tod Robberson, "55 Killed in Fighting in Southern Mexico," The Washington Post, January 3, 1994. 
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Attack on a Red Cross vehicleAttack on a Red Cross vehicleAttack on a Red Cross vehicleAttack on a Red Cross vehicle: On January 2, San Cristóbal de las Casas Red Cross Director Armando Servín Martínez 
received a call to collect six injured soldiers in Rancho Nuevo. When the Red Cross ambulance arrived, it was hit with a 
grenade, resulting in injuries to aid workers Juan Emilio Trejo Longoria and Juan Pantoja.40 The circumstances of this 
incident are confused and still have not been adequately clarified.  Armando Servín told HRW/Americas that while the 
ambulance was waiting opposite the army base, a bus pulled up with soldiers in civilian dress.  As the soldiers went up the 
hill to the base, the army fired on them, mistaking them for Zapatistas, and hit the ambulance by accident.  Initial reports 
had stated that the grenade was fired by the EZLN and that a Red Cross worker had been killed.  Servín subsequently denied 
this account in a radio interview.  He was later dissmissed from his position with the Red Cross.  While the Mexican Red 
Cross is nominally independent from the government, its largest source of support is a government-run lottery. 
 

Events in the El Corralito area including strafing of journalistsEvents in the El Corralito area including strafing of journalistsEvents in the El Corralito area including strafing of journalistsEvents in the El Corralito area including strafing of journalists: On Tuesday January 4, government helicopters 
dropped an undetermined number of rockets on hamlets in this mountainous zone immediately south of San Cristóbal de las 
Casas including El Corralito, San Antonio de los Baños, San Isidro el Ocotal, Santa Lucía, San Juan Buenavista, Carrizalito, 
San José del Carmen, El Porvenir, and Peña María. The official reason for the assault was that army troops were pinned 
down by guerrillas in the area.41 Most residents fled down the mountain to a makeshift center for displaced persons, called 
Don Bosco, where they appeared to be well cared for. Several told HRW/Americas that they saw no evidence of guerrilla 
activity around the time of the attack. 
 

When the firing stopped, a group of Mexican and foreign reporters, including a crew from Univisión television, were 
granted permission by soldiers to pass through an army roadblock and advance toward the settlement of El Corralito. At 
one point, the reporters got out of their red van marked "TV" and "Prensa" and, carrying a white flag, walked toward a 
wooden house to interview a family. At that moment, an aircraft opened fire. As the reporters waved the white flag, a 
second aircraft flew over and also fired close by. The firing, first from machine guns and then from rockets, continued 
for about thirty minutes as two aircraft made eight loops and sixteen attacks against the journalists who took cover under 
rocks. Journalists on the scene told HRW/Americas that the attack was clearly done "by someone very dumb." "It just goes 
to show Mexican soldiers are not used to fighting this kind of war."42 
 

On Wednesday January 12, 1994, HRW/Americas interviewed two men from El Corralito who were arrested by the army on 
Thursday January 6, two days after the assault. Rosendo Hernández Pérez, age forty-four and the owner of a small store in 
El Corralito, and his nephew Roberto Sánchez Gómez, age thirty-three, remained behind after most other residents had fled. 
The two men said bombs had dropped near their house so they sealed it up and stayed inside. They were in the living quarters 
of the store with family members watching television around 4:30 in the afternoon when soldiers burst in. The army accused 
them of being drug traffickers (their store was the largest in the area and presumably the most successful) and of being 
Zapatistas. They also asked them if they had arms; Hernández and his nephew claimed they had only a small hunting weapon. 
 

                                   
40 Rosa Rojas and Matilde Pérez, "Intenso combate en Rancho Nuevo; al menos 18 muertos y 10 heridos," La Jornada, January 3, 1994, p. 7 

41 Tim Golden, "As Mexican Army Pursues Rebels, Fears Arise Over Rights Abuses," New York Times, January 6, 1994. 

42 Interview with The Times of London correspondent, David Adams, January 13, 1994. 
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The army took the two men into custody, blindfolded them, and slammed Rosendo's head against the car. They were taken 
to San Cristóbal de las Casas to the municipal building, where they were held until Sunday morning. The men told 
HRW/Americas that they were forced to sit on the floor of the basement with their hands tied. They were restrained from 
moving by a wooden board that was placed on their legs.43 They also reported they were kicked and denied food and water, 
and that soldiers guarding them said that if they talked about the Zapatistas they could have something to eat and drink. 
Six other prisoners held with them on Thursday were taken away on Friday. 
 

On Sunday, the two men told us, they were put in a car, a wet blanket was spread over them, and they were driven to 
Tuxtla Gutiérrez. There they were taken to the military airport, where soldiers threatened to kill them. They were asked 
specifically if they were "in agreement with the Bishop." They then were transported to a house outside the airport 
grounds, where they were interrogated by an army officer. Later, they were returned to the military airport, where they 
were turned over to agents of the state attorney general. In civilian custody, they were put in a cell with nineteen other 
prisoners, including several from Oxchuc who told them they had been held in Rancho Nuevo army base for five days before 
being transferred to state authorities in Tuxtla Gutiérrez. The state officials gave them food and water, but the room had no 
beds. While in custody, all their belongings except their clothes were taken from them.  
 

The two were released from state custody on Tuesday January 11, but none of their belongings were returned. They had to 
borrow money from a stranger to obtain a ride back to San Cristóbal de las Casas. At no time during their ordeal did any 
army or government official inform their family members that they were in custody. Both the family and the Fray Bartolomé 
de las Casas Human Rights Center considered them to be "disappeared."  
 

HRW/Americas investigators went to El Corralito on January 13. On the six-mile road they encountered only one person, 
a man who said he stayed behind to guard his homestead. He told us he had been arrested by the army after the attack and 
had been accused of being a Zapatista. He said he was taken to Rancho Nuevo army base, where he was held overnight. The 
following day he was taken to the municipal building in San Cristóbal de las Casas and held in the basement overnight. He 
complained that he was arrested in the heat of the day, when he was lightly dressed, and said he nearly froze to death in 
the basement. Apparently released the next day, he returned home to guard his property; his family had fled to Don Bosco.  
 

About a mile beyond this man's house, our investigators came to the hamlet of San Antonio de los Baños. The settlement 
was deserted, but the doors to houses stood open, making it possible to see that the contents of nearly every home were 
broken or destroyed. The damage appeared vicious. Nothing of value (televisions, radios, etc.) remained in any of the homes; 
displaced persons from San Antonio de los Baños that we interviewed in Don Bosco complained of looting by the army. 
Because Mexico has not suspended any constitutional guarantees during this crisis, Mexican laws prohibiting illegal 
searches and seizures are still in effect. 
 

Kidnapping of General Castellanos Kidnapping of General Castellanos Kidnapping of General Castellanos Kidnapping of General Castellanos Domínguez by the Domínguez by the Domínguez by the Domínguez by the EZLNEZLNEZLNEZLN: A group of Zapatistas apparently penetrated the "San 
Joaquín" ranch located thirty-six kilometers east of Comitán in south-central Chiapas near the border with Guatemala; 
captured and bound its owner, General Castellanos Domínguez; and transported him in the direction of the Lacandón jungle. 
General Castellanos was governor of Chiapas from 1982 until 1988, and had previously served as regional commander of the 
Mexican armed forces. Three other cattle farmers from the area were also kidnapped.44  
 

                                   
43 A medical examination of the two men, conducted by a Physicians for Human Rights doctor, showed bruises and scars that were consistent 
with their statements. Their stories also were corroborated by family members who fled to Don Bosco after witnessing the arrest, and by 
evidence at the store including a black boot mark on the door and bullet shells and army vehicle tire tracks in the vicinity.  

44 Blanche Petrich, "EZLN enfrenta a soldados," La Opinión, January 3, 1994. 

Gen. Castellanos was not a legitimate military target, since he played no role in the hostilities. Holding him to affect 
the conduct of the enemy (i.e., the release of EZLN combatants) meets the classic definition of hostage-taking, which is 
specifically prohibited by international humanitarian law. 
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Independent confirmation that he was alive and in EZLN custody was made only on January 31, when journalists were able 

to interview him in an undisclosed jungle location. Earlier, the EZLN announced that Castellanos was the only hostage they 
were holding, and that he had been tried and found guilty and sentenced to life imprisonment sharing the lives of the 
peasantry. On January 31, the EZLN announced its intention of exchanging him for captured EZLN soldiers. General Castellanos 
finally was released on February 16, but no prisoner exchange occurred. 
 
    VIII. Findings in Other Cases Investigated by HRW/AmericasVIII. Findings in Other Cases Investigated by HRW/AmericasVIII. Findings in Other Cases Investigated by HRW/AmericasVIII. Findings in Other Cases Investigated by HRW/Americas  
 

Discovery of the corpses of two men who had "disappeared" in Las MargaritasDiscovery of the corpses of two men who had "disappeared" in Las MargaritasDiscovery of the corpses of two men who had "disappeared" in Las MargaritasDiscovery of the corpses of two men who had "disappeared" in Las Margaritas: On January 16, Eduardo Gómez 
Hernández, a twenty-one year old truck driver, and his friend Jorge Mariano Solís, age twenty-two, were arrested by 
municipal police after someone identified them as Zapatistas. Eyewitnesses subsequently saw the two being transported out 
of town in an army vehicle. Family members sought the help of local human rights groups to locate them. They inquired at 
the local police station, at army headquarters, and even traveled to Cerro Hueco prison in Tuxtla Gutiérrez to search for 
them, to no avail. The families also filed a complaint with the CNDH. 
 

On January 24, two moderately decayed corpses were discovered twenty-five to thirty feet off the main road leading 
out of town. They were positively identified as Gómez Hernández and Solís. The following day, forensic investigators with the 
Federal Attorney General's office performed autopsies which were observed by forensic physicians with the CNDH and 
Physicians for Human Rights. It was determined that the two men died of multiple stab wounds to the chest. Their level of 
decomposition was consistent with having died five to six days before. 
 

The Physicians for Human Rights team later visited the place where the bodies were discovered. Although the Attorney 
General's investigators professed to having conducted a thorough investigation, the Physicians for Human Rights team found 
such basic evidence as Gómez Hernández' voter registration card still at the scene. 
 

Events in the Morelia ejido and the summary execution of three villagersEvents in the Morelia ejido and the summary execution of three villagersEvents in the Morelia ejido and the summary execution of three villagersEvents in the Morelia ejido and the summary execution of three villagers: Early in the morning on January 7, soldiers, 
allegedly acting on a tip-off that Zapatistas were in the community, began breaking down doors, raiding homes, and 
arresting residents in the Morelia ejido near Altamirano.45 Male villagers were made to lie face down in the village 
basketball court and held at gunpoint there for most of the day. They were beaten if they moved. Three men, Sebastían 
Santis López, age sixty-five, Severiano Santis Gómez, age sixty, and Hermelindo Santis Gómez, age forty-five, were taken 
inside the church, where they were tortured. An eyewitness told HRW/Americas that Severiano Santis Gómez was cut in the 
face and temples with an army knife; in addition, soldiers repeatedly dunked his head in a bucket of water and beat and 
kicked him while he was lying on the ground. Local residents reported that the three men were driven away in a military 
vehicle with a prominently marked red cross. 
 

Villagers cutting wood in a gully about 300 meters from the dirt road linking Morelia and Altamirano found the 
remains of the three men on February 10. The following morning, representatives from HRW/Americas and Physicians for 
Human Rights accompanied local human rights investigators to examine the site. They arrived before PGR or CNDH staff removed 
the corpses and other evidence. Villagers who went with them were able to confirm the identities of the corpses to their 
satisfaction.  
 

                                   
45 In Secretary of National Defense Bulletin No. 30, issued on February 13, the army asserted that it had not even been in the Morelia ejido on 
January 7, but rather had been there on the 6th. This assertion was categorically refuted by villagers and by detainees from the ejido 
interviewed by HRW/Americas in Cerro Hueco. 
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The following day, Physicians for Human Rights learned that the army had prevented the PGR, the proper legal authority 
for removing the remains, from taking them to Tuxtla Gutiérrez for autopsies. Instead, soldiers confiscated the bones and 
took them to the municipal building in Altamirano. When a Physicians for Human Rights' representative, accompanied by 
reporters, went to the municipal building to find out what had happened to the bodies, he stumbled upon an army forensic 
team that was conducting an unauthorized examination of the remains. One of the army physicians acknowledged to 
Physicians for Human Rights that he was conducting the examination to prepare an army defense against possible charges of 
extra-judicial execution by soldiers. After the army forensic team finished, the mayor of Altamirano refused to guarantee 
that the army team had not tampered with the evidence.  The following day, representatives of the CNDH and the state 
attorney general's office arrived in Altamirano. They refused to condemn that army's unauthorized autopsy nor did they 
promise to investigate possible army criminal misconduct. Instead of taking control of the remains and transporting them 
to the state capital for a complete authorized forensic examination, the CNDH and the state attorney general's agents 
cooperated with the military in arranging for the bones to be returned to the Morelia ejido for burial. At the ejido, 
village representatives forced the state attorney general's representative to confirm in writing that the bones had been 
illegally seized by the armed forces. 
 

Assault on two men in Las MargaritasAssault on two men in Las MargaritasAssault on two men in Las MargaritasAssault on two men in Las Margaritas: In the Red Cross station in Ocosingo, HRW/Americas representatives interviewed 
two men, Agustín Guzmán Lorenzo and Sebastián Hernández Guzmán, who said they and other members of their family had been 
bombarded from the air near Rancho Nuevo San Carlos in the Altamirano district. They were resting by a river in the remote 
rural area on January 6, when an army helicopter passed over them three times. On the third pass the helicopter came in 
lower and, with no advance warning, fired a rocket directly at the men. Agustín Guzmán's six-year-old son was killed 
instantly, and both men sustained serious injuries. It was three days, however, before family members could get them to 
Altamirano for medical attention. The heavily bandaged men, one of whom had his nose blown off, had just been transported 
to Ocosingo on January 12; the two told HRW/Americas they would be airlifted to Villahermosa, Tabasco, where they would 
have surgery to remove shrapnel from their faces and necks. As of February 16, despite a forensic examination of the body 
of the six-year-old boy conducted by CNDH, no death certificate had been issued, making it impossible for the family to claim 
compensation. 
 
 IX. Interference with and Attacks on the IX. Interference with and Attacks on the IX. Interference with and Attacks on the IX. Interference with and Attacks on the     
    Press and Human Rights MonitorsPress and Human Rights MonitorsPress and Human Rights MonitorsPress and Human Rights Monitors 
 

After reports of summary executions appeared in the press, the army went out of its way to seal off the conflicted 
area. One group of reporters who tried to cross roadblocks set up just to the east of San Cristóbal de las Casas were 
sent back to town to get authorization from the President's foreign press representative, Gabriel Guerra. Reporters waited 
forty-five minutes for Mr. Guerra to reply to their request, but he never came out of his hotel room. 

Human rights groups were treated in the same way. On Sunday January 9, representatives of Mexican and international 
human rights groups tried to cross the roadblock accompanied by a large number of journalists. The human rights workers 
were told they would need to get permission from CNDH President Jorge Madrazo; the reporters were told they would need to 
get permission from the official government spokesman, Eloy Cantú.  
 

The human rights workers returned to town, where they met with Miguel Sarré, one of the CNDH's chief investigators. He 
accompanied them to meet with Gen. Otún Calderón, who refused to allow them to enter the zone over land, refused to 
allow them to commission their own helicopter to reach the area by air, and made no offer to transport the human rights 
workers on army or government transport. During the next two days, however, a handful of journalists were transported 
into the area by government helicopters. The area was reopened to journalists and human rights monitors on January 12. 
 
 X. X. X. X. Interference with the Interference with the Interference with the Interference with the ICRCICRCICRCICRC 
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In a February 5 press bulletin, the International Committee of the Red Cross complained that medical services in areas 
of the conflict had broken down. It called on the Mexican government and the EZLN to reestablish, under ICRC auspices, health 
services such as outpatient consultations and treatment, hospital transfers, vaccination and disease control programs, and 
sanitation work.46 The ICRC also called for both sides to respect the neutrality of health posts and to withdraw all armed 
units from around them.47 More than a week later, on February 11, the ICRC reached an agreement with both Mexican authorities 
and the EZLN to restore medical services in areas disrupted by the conflict.48  
 
 
 
 XI. Threats to the Press and Human Rights WorkersXI. Threats to the Press and Human Rights WorkersXI. Threats to the Press and Human Rights WorkersXI. Threats to the Press and Human Rights Workers 
 

Since the conflict began, many journalists and human rights monitors have been the targets of death threats or other 
forms of intimidation from previously unknown entities. For example, on January 31, the national daily, La Jornada, received 
a threatening written communication from a group called the Mexican Anti-Communist Front. The communication asserted 
that the newspaper was in cahoots with the EZLN, called for the departure from Mexico of Guatemalan Nobel Laureate 
Rigoberta Menchú and other foreigners, and condemned the political clergy in Chiapas. Similar threats were sent to the 
San Cristóbal de las Casas newspaper, El Tiempo. Around the same time, four La Jornada reporters C Blanche Petrich, Elio 
Henríquez, Gaspár Morquecho, and José Zaldúa C along with the newspaper's Deputy Director General, Carmen Lira, and 
Director General Carlos Payán, received threats. Mexican authorities roundly condemned the menacing attacks, but those who 
received them are still wary and their intimidating influence has been felt by all journalists who are reporting on events 
in Chiapas. 
 

                                   
46 International Committee of the Red Cross, Communication to the Press No. 94/5, February 5, 1994. 

47 In HRW/Americas' January fact-finding trip, our representatives similarly found that medical services for both civilians and wounded rebels 
were virtually non-existent. 

48 International Committee of the Red Cross, Communication to the Press No. 94/8, February 12, 1994. 

Human rights workers have been subjected to similar written and verbal attacks. In addition to hostile accusations and 
threats directed against Bishop Ruiz, local parish priests, and the Fray Bartolomé de las Casas Human Rights Center in 
Chiapas, other nationally known human rights activists, including Sergio Aguayo, President of the Mexican Academy of Human 
Rights; Juan Carlos Martínez Martínez of the Fray Francisco de Vitoria Human Rights Center in Mexico City; Victor Clark 
Alfaro of the Binational Center for Human Rights in Tijuana; Alejandro Camario Beristein, President of the Mexican Human 
Rights Commission in Atlixco, Puebla; and Armando Ruiz Canales, President of the Council for Law and Human Rights in Mexico 
City, have received anonymous death threats. The offices of the National Center for Social Communication (CENCOS), which 
serves as an informal communication and coordination center for groups documenting abuses and providing services to 
victims of the Chiapas conflict, were broken into and robbed four times during January.  
 
 XII. United States PolicyXII. United States PolicyXII. United States PolicyXII. United States Policy 
 

The Clinton administration was caught off guard by the New Year's rebellion. During the first ten days of the conflict, 
when public statements of concern regarding human rights violations in Chiapas would have been most helpful, his 
administration failed to denounce widely reported abuses. Instead it waited until the Mexican government acknowledged 
those abuses before publicly criticizing the Mexican army. 
 

The administration had plenty of opportunity to express concern that human rights abuses had occurred and that those 
responsible should be held accountable. On Sunday, January 9, Secretary of State Warren Christopher was interviewed on 
the "This Week with David Brinkley" television show; yet his comments were limited to expressing the indisputable fact that 
"governments do have to take steps in order to protect law and order...". By then news of human rights violations had been 
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widely reported; nonetheless State Department spokespersons dodged questions about them by claiming that the U.S. Embassy 
in Mexico had no independent way of knowing what was happening. These assertions contradicted a January 3 briefing 
announcement that the embassy had dispatched a five-member team to Chiapas on January 2. 
 

After President Salinas changed course, statements by the U.S. government emphasized the promising nature of his 
measures; on January 11, State Department spokesperson Christine Shelly commented that President Salinas had 
acknowledged some misconduct; yet she carefully avoided commenting on abuses in the voice of the U.S. government.  
 

On January 25, Assistant Secretary of State Alexander Watson held a press conference in which he again praised the 
Salinas government's efforts to achieve peace and protect rights. For the first time, he acknowledged that the U.S. 
government had "raised human rights at the very highest level from the outset of this crisis," but then hastened to add that 
"[the inquiry] was preemptive. It was not reacting to information." When asked if the United States now had evidence of 
abuses, Watson said he had reports from Amnesty International and Human Rights Watch/Americas and other organizations. He 
added: "I do not know yet whether we have any independent information of our own that would allow us to conclude from 
those sources that there have been human rights violations." 
 

State Department officials were overconfident in expressing their belief that the Mexican government would hold 
abusive soldiers accountable, ignoring the history of impunity the Mexican security forces have enjoyed. During Assistant 
Secretary Watson's January 25 briefing, he stated, "...we're encouraging the Mexican government C and no reason to think 
they will not do this C to investigate all of these charges as thoroughly as possible." Watson again voiced his expectation 
that soldiers would be held accountable during February 2 testimony before Congress. He stated, "We have been assured by 
the Mexican Government that those found guilty of committing abuses will be punished." Watson also expressed undeserved 
confidence in Mexico's military justice system as an appropriate venue for investigating human rights violations by soldiers. 
In otherwise balanced testimony, Assistant Secretary of State for Human Rights and Humanitarian Affairs John Shattuck 
expressed faith in the Mexican government's promises by saying, "The Mexican government has stated its commitment to do 
so," without noting that they have failed in the past to hold those responsible for human rights abuses accountable. 
 

It has been reported that, in the early aerial campaign in the Chiapas countryside, the Mexican Air Force used 
American-made helicopters leased to Mexico for the fight against drugs. We understand that the State Department is 
reviewing whether the Mexicans misused the leased aircraft. In a January 26 press release, the Mexican government 
contended that the helicopters were not misused, because they can be used "in times of natural disaster, to prevent loss of 
life or otherwise engage in humanitarian undertakings." It would be difficult to describe these military operations as part 
of a "humanitarian undertaking." The Clinton administration should make appropriate inquiries, obtain the necessary answers 
to clarify whether there has been an improper use of this material, and make those answers public.49 
 
 XIII. The Need for AccountabilityXIII. The Need for AccountabilityXIII. The Need for AccountabilityXIII. The Need for Accountability 
 

While Human Rights Watch/Americas applauded the Mexican government's January 10 policy reversal, which significantly 
reduced both violence and serious human rights abuses in Chiapas, we are troubled by signs that the Mexican government 
does not intend to investigate fully those human rights and humanitarian law violations that did occur, or prosecute and 
punish those responsible. 
 

                                   
49 In Switzerland, there has been enormous controversy about the Mexican army's alleged use of Swiss-made Pilatus (PC-7) aircraft to bombard 
Zapatista-controlled terrain. Rosa Icela Rodríguez, Anne Huffshmid, "Debate en Suiza por el supuesto uso de naves Pilatus," La Jornada, January 
12, 1994. 



 
 
Human Rights Watch/Americas - page 25 - March 1, 1994, Vol. VI, No. 3 

One such sign is the great difficulty HRW/Americas and other independent non-governmental human rights 
organizations have had in obtaining full access to the available information possessed by Mexican government agencies. To 
give but one example, on January 10, HRW/Americas asked then-Attorney General Carpizo for the following information: 
 
  (1) To what extent are fatalities turned over to the PGR to establish whether crimes have been committed? Are autopsies 
being conducted? What are the results? Except for the Ocosingo autopsies, we have not received information on this 
question.  
 

(2) Are prisoners being turned over to the PGR? How long after capture? Do they bear any signs of abuse during 
custody? Have they been charged? With what? The PGR has not responded. The CNDH has issued a press release, but the 
information made public is limited to the names of those who have been charged in federal or state courts; no information 
has been produced on their mistreatment. 
 

(3) Are house-to-house searches being conducted? Do they satisfy legal requirements? Again, we have received no 
response.   
 

(4) Can you provide information on the hostages presumed to be held by the EZLN? We have received no response, despite 
the government's obvious interest in ensuring their safety and well-being and winning their release. 
 

Equally disappointing is the CNDH's failure to aggressively investigate alleged abuses or to publicly condemn law 
enforcement and military officials who committed them or tried to cover them up. For example, in the case of the eleven 
corpses found in the cemetery in Ocosingo, the CNDH promised a more extensive report discussing its findings in mid-
January, but to date that report has not appeared. As late as February 10, a senior CNDH official refused to tell an 
HRW/Americas investigator the names of the persons whose corpses were recovered.  Jorge Madrazo, president of the CNDH, 
told HRW/Americas on February 17 that the case had proved "particularly complicated" but that a full report on the 
Commission's findings would be published soon. 
 

There also are indications that the government has impeded the CNDH from fully or impartially disclosing its findings in 
sensitive cases. For example, in the case of the five persons summarily executed in the Ocosingo market, the CNDH invited 
respected international forensic specialists to confirm its findings, but asked that they serve as technical advisors to the 
CNDH. The Physicians for Human Rights investigators found there was a high probability that the army had committed the 
summary executions, and that the federal Attorney General's office had covered up the crimes. After the joint forensic 
review was complete, CNDH President Jorge Madrazo and members of the investigation team left for meetings in Mexico City 
and could not be reached. The independent investigators, who felt they could wait no longer to reveal their findings, issued 
a public statement. They were scolded by senior CNDH officials and asked to refrain from making further statements until 
the CNDH could release its report. Two days later, on January 25, the CNDH released a press release that blurred the serious 
discrepancies between the CNDH findings and those of the Attorney General's office.50 
 

Government officials' interpretation of the federal amnesty legislation is a source of concern. Although the letter of 
the law is ambiguous, senior  senator Miguel Alemán told National Public Radio reporter David Welna that the amnesty was 
definitely intended to cover all acts of violence, including serious human rights abuses, committed by all parties to the 
conflict. If that is the case, the law could be used to grant impunity to those responsible for such abuses. 
 

                                   
50 The press release is discussed above, in the section "Disappearances, Arbitrary Arrest and Detention, Torture, and Cruel Treatment in 
Detention," p. 11. 
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Of further concern is the army's announcement on January 28 that it would bring in a military prosecutor to 
investigate the summary executions of the Zapatista soldiers in the Ocosingo market. While HRW/Americas does not object 
to a military investigation, we are concerned about the lack of civilian oversight over that investigation and the fact that 
if a whitewash occurs, no civilian review will be possible. One investigative technique adopted by the army has been to 
establish complaint centers in communities affected by the conflict. These centers are staffed by armed and uniformed 
soldiers and appear forbidding even to international human rights monitors.  
 

We note, in particular, resistance to addressing alleged abuses committed by the army, even by those who are working 
hardest to resolve the situation. For example, in response to a query by HRW/Americas, a close aide to Manuel Camacho Solís 
told us that it would not be a good idea for anyone "to get into a pissing contest" with the army right now. In late 
January, the Ministry of Defense issued a statement categorically denying any abuses by the Mexican army and attacking the 
bearers of bad news. On the occasion of a visit to Tuxtla Gutiérrez on January 25, President Salinas gave a short speech 
reaffirming his commitment to a peaceful solution. Unfortunately, he included a favorable mention of the role played by the 
Mexican army, which does not bode well for the likelihood of a serious investigation into the military's abuses. 
 

As a human rights organization, we have learned that the best way to support any peace process is for the government 
involved to disclose everything that can be known about serious violations, to live up to its obligations in domestic and 
international law to investigate those abuses, and to prosecute and punish those responsible. We object to any amnesty 
that sweeps such serious crimes under the rug, whether committed by state agents or rebel opponents. Disappearances, 
extrajudicial executions, torture, and violations of the laws of war are crimes that governments have a duty to investigate 
and punish. Moreover, a State's failure to do so leaves wounds open for generations to come, and jeopardizes lasting peace.
  
 
 XIV. Meeting the ChallengeXIV. Meeting the ChallengeXIV. Meeting the ChallengeXIV. Meeting the Challenge 
 

The tempered approach adopted by President Salinas to confront the rebellion in Chiapas, and the political parties' 
appeal for electoral reforms, give rise to hope that, in the aftermath of the New Year's Rebellion, Mexico is changing. The 
manner in which Mexican civil society responded to the crisis, in ways that were impossible even five years ago, fortifies 
that hope. From the first days of the conflict, nongovernmental organizations, foremost among them independent human 
rights organizations, played an indispensable role in providing reliable information, standing by the victims, and engaging 
in frank and honest dialogue with the authorities. The Mexican press also rose to the task: there has been more and better 
independent reporting from the zone of conflict than anything HRW/Americas has seen elsewhere in the hemisphere in 
similar situations.  
 

But that hope is fading as a result of the government's refusal to ensure that there is genuine accountability for 
violations of the laws of war and of human rights law during the conflict. In particular, we urge the government to 
declare: 
 

���� That the amnesty law will not apply to any acts, by either government forces or Zapatistas, that constitute 
human rights violations or violations of humanitarian law; 

 
���� That all investigations of such crimes, by all parties including the army, will be fully and independently 
conducted; 

 
���� That where appropriate, independent forensic examiners will be invited to examine evidence of serious abuses, 
and will not be hindered in making their findings public; 
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���� That complete and accurate results of all investigations will be made public; 
 

���� That no government agency, including the army, will be given sole authority to police itself; 
 

���� That all criminal acts identified during the course of investigations will be publicly prosecuted; 
 

���� That those found guilty of such crimes will be appropriately punished; and 
 

���� That victims of those crimes will be compensated.  
 

The New Year's Rebellion in Chiapas challenges Mexico's political establishment to institute definitive reforms that will 
bring genuine democracy and governmental accountability to Mexico. In response to events in Chiapas, Mexico's major 
political parties entered into a pact to achieve genuine electoral reform. But the government's refusal to call for a 
special session of Congress to put them into effect, and statements from PRI leaders and key members of Congress that 
such reforms cannot be legislated in time for the 1994 Presidential elections, have dampened our optimism. Their excuses are 
not credible, given the government's past demonstrations, in cases like the creation of the CNDH and PRONASOL (a poverty 
alleviation program designed to provide basic public services to the extreme poor), that it can establish wide-reaching 
government institutions virtually overnight. 
 

Even if electoral reforms are enacted in a timely manner, Mexican political leaders must not forget that true 
democracy includes not only elections, but the impartial functioning of State institutions, in particular those like police, 
prosecutors, and courts that are responsible for protecting the rights of citizens and correcting the wrongs done to 
them. We urge the government of Mexico to rise to the challenge posed by the events in Chiapas to make the establishment 
of democracy its highest priority.  
 
 ����        ����        ���� 
 

This report is available through the Publications Department, Human Rights Watch, 485 Fifth Avenue, New York, NY 10017 
for $3.00 U.S.. 
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